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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

ETTA RENEE HOLMES, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)

VS. ) NO. CIV-11-0397-HE

)

THE BOARD OF COUNTY )

COMMISSIONERS ON BEHALF OF THE )
CLEVELAND COUNTY CLERK'S )
OFFICE, ET AL., )
)

Defendants. )
ORDER

Plaintiff Etta Renee Holmes was formerly employed as a deputy clerk by the County
Clerk of Cleveland County, Oklahoma. She was terminated in 2011. She has sued the
County for disability discrimination under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
(“ADA”) and similar provisions of Oklahoma state law, 25 Okla. Stat. § 1804eq.She
also asserts claims under Title 1l of the ARAd for interference and retaliation under the
Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), 29 U.S.C. § 26G1,seq

Defendant has moved for summary judgment, which is appropriate only “if the
movant shows that there m® genuine dispute as to any mmatefact and the movant is

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(a). Plaintiff has also moved for

The nominal defendant in this case is the Board of County Commissioners of Cleveland
County, reflecting the manner in which a coumigy be sued under Oklahoma law. However, in
substance, Cleveland County is the defendant antibiuréferences here to “defendant” have that
meaning. As pertinent here, the County actegely through the actions of the County Clerk or
others acting on her authority.
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partial summary judgment on her disability discrimination claim. “A fact is ‘material’ if,
under the governing law, it could have an effect on the outcome of the lawsuit. A dispute
over a material fact igenuine if arationa jury coulcfind in favor of the nonmovin¢party

on the evidenci presented Tabol v. Hilti, Inc., 70Z F.3c 1206 121% (10t Cir. 2013)

(citation omitted). The motions are at issue.

As to eacl motion the cour has viewec the evidenci anc any reasonabl inferences
thar might be drawr from it in the light mos favoratle to the nonmoving party, and
conclude that defendant motior shoulc be granted in part and denied in |, and that
plaintiff's motion should be denied.

Background

The background facts are substantially undisputed. Plaintiff began working as a
deputy clerk in the County Clerk’s office on December 11, 2006. Tammy Belinson (formerly
Tammy Howard) is the County Clerk. Plaifis job duties and responsibilities were to
index daily documents. Accuracy in inputting the data was an essential function of the job.

In 2008, plaintiff had back surgery, after which her doctor imposed a 30-pound lifting
restriction for her return to work. Following that surgery, plaintiff used a cane or walker
intermittently while at work, although plaintiff contends she always used assistive devices

to walk distances.

%Plaintiff has moved to strike statementséntain affidavits submitted by defendant which
plaintiff views as inconsistentity the sworn testimony of the particular affiant. The motion will
be denied, as any inconsistency is not so cletor asrrant striking the affidavit altogether. To the
extent there are arguable differences in the particular statements, the court has relied, as to
plaintiff's motion, on the deposition statements.
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During the period of July and August of 2010, plaintiff began displaying
characteristics of intoxication or impairment while at work. At times, she exhibited slurred
speech or other behavior suggesting an altstiegé or being “out of it.” Plaintiff does not
dispute these facts, but indicates thatrhedications were changed in approximately July
and that she did not tolerate the change well. Plaintiff's last day of work was August 16,
2010. Defendant received a note on August 18, 2010, from plaintiff's doctor requesting that
she be excused until August 25, 2010, for medical reasons. Belinson received a phone call
from plaintiff on August 23, during which plaintiff appeared to be in an intoxicated state.
Defendant received another note from plaintiff’'s doctors on August 24, 2010, advising that
plaintiff was under their care and that she could return to work on August 30 with a five-
pound lifting restriction and the use of a wheelchair. The note also advised that plaintiff's
medication should not affect her work.

Defendant subsequently requested that plaintiff fill out an Employer Medical
Authorization form, which plaintiff did at mmeeting on August 30. Defendant also sent a
letter to plaintiff's doctors indicating that the information previously provided was
insufficient and incomplete, and requesting more detailed information about plaintiff's
medications, their side effects, and any recommendations or restrictions. It also sought
information as to the length of time plaffitwould be on medication or in need of a
wheelchair. Plaintiff's doctor sent a letter on August 26 advising that the pain medication
that caused plaintiff's problems had been discontinued and that she was currently able to do

her job. The doctor also advised thatisbdonger had any slurring of speech and provided
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the requested list of medications. The letter indicated that she would need a wheelchair to
help prevent falls for the foreseeable future, should not lift over twenty pounds or anything
over ten pounds above her head, and shouldiatooping or bending more than five times

an hour. Some time later, defendant sent a l&gtpfaintiff's doctors stating that it was
requiring a complete release for plaintiff toura to work, certifying she was free of narcotic
medications, and that she would not be abtetiarn without that certification [Doc. #80, Ex.

24].

Plaintiff was placed on unpaid administrative leave from August 17, 2010, until she
was terminated on May 1, 2011. Defendant contends that plaintiff refused to participate in
a fitness for duty exam, but it is disputed aatyboint that exam was actually requested and
required. Additional disputed facts are addressed below as appropriate.

Analysis

A. Disability Discrimination

The ADA prohibits a covered employer from discriminating against “a qualified
individual on the basis of disability.” 42 US.§ 12112(a). Althoughitis not apparent from
the somewhat scattered and unfocused discussion of the applicable standards in defendant’s
brief, ADA discrimination claims are ordinarigvaluated, in the summary judgment context,

using the burden-shifting framework set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. (téén

U.S. 792 (1973)._Carter v. Pathfinder Energy Se662 F.3d 1134, 1141 (1@ir. 2011)°

3This framework is used when plaintiff rel@sindirect evidence of discrimination. Here,
defendant’s refusal to allow plaintiff's return veork due to the pain megitions she was taking
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Under this framework, a plaintiff must first establish a prima facie case of discrimination by
showing that: (1) she is a disabled pem®defined by the ADA,; (2) she was qualified, with
or without reasonable accommodation, to perform the essential functions of her job; and (3)

her employer discriminated against her because of her disahility. Robert v. Bd. of Cnty.

Comm’rs 691 F.3d 1211, 1216 (10th Cir. 2012). If plaintiff establishes a prima facie case,
the burden then shifts to defendant to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for
its actions. Plaintiff would then be required to identify evidence suggesting the employer’s
stated reason is in fact a pretext designed to mask the prohibited discrimination.662arter
F.3d at 1141.

Here, defendant appears to principally challenge the first element of the prima facie
case — whether plaintiff was disabled witkiie meaning of the ADA. Under the ADA, the
term “disability” is defined as “(A) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits
one or more major life activities of such individual; (B) a record of such an impairment; or
(C) being regarded as having such an impairment . .. .” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 12102(1). Plaintiff's
claim is judged under the provisions of the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (“ADAAA”),
which explicitly lowered the standard for what constitutes a substantial limitation and
broadened the scope of protection under the ADA, among other chddgg&s12102(4);

Pub. L. No. 110-325, 122 Stat. 3553 (“[T]he question of whether an individual's impairment

Is a disability under the ADA should not demand extensive analysis.”). Further, “[t]he

in connection with her “disability” arguably constities direct evidence of discrimination, but it is
unnecessary to resolve the question in lmftihe application of the McDonnell Douglsiandard.
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determination of whether an impairment dabsally limits a major life activity shall be

made without regard to the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as . . .
medication, medical supplies, equipment, orliapges, . . . [or] mobility devices.” 42
U.S.C. 812102(4)(E)(i). “Major life activities” now include “caring for oneself, performing
manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking,
breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, and working,” as well
as the operation of major bodily functions. § 12102(2).

Here, there is evidence that, at the time defendant placed plaintiff on involuntary
unpaid administrative leave and refused to allow her to return, as a result of her back
problemg’, plaintiff had trouble lifting, walking, bending, and sleeping. This supports an
inference that the referenced impairments “substanilimited” one or more major life
activities within the meaning of the ADAAA.

Further, there is evidence that defendantnagplaintiff as “disabled” within the
meaning of the ADA. Under the ADAAA, andividual is “regarded as” disabled “if the
individual establishe that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited under this
chapter because of an actual or perceived physical or mental impaivhether or not the
impairment limits or is perceived to limit a major life activityd. 8 12102(3)(A) (emphasis

added);see alsdteffen v. Donahges80 F.3d 738, 743-44 (7th Cir. 2012) (“Prior to the

Amendments, an employee was not ‘regarded as’ disabled . . . unless his employer believed

*Plaintiff refers to her disability as degenerative back disease.
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that impairment substantially limited the employee in a major life activity. The Amendments
changed this standard . . . .” (citations omitted)); 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(I)(1) (“Prohibited
actions include but are not limited refusal to hire, demotioplacement on involuntary
leave termination, exclusion for failure to meet a qualification standard, harassment, or
denial of any other term, condition, or privilege of employment.” (emphasis added)). Here,
there is evidence satisfying that standard.

There is also evidence sufficient to establish the second element of plaintiff's prima
facie case. Two criteria are considered when determining whether a plaintiff is a “qualified
individual.” Robert 691 F.3d at 1216. First the court assesses whether the plaintiff's
“impairment prevented her from performing the essential functions of herlghblf it did,
the court must determine whether the plaintiff might have been able to perform those
functions if her employer had provided her with a reasonable accommodéatioThe
parties agree that the essential functions of plaintiff's job included sitting, typing, and
accurately inputting data. There is evidence that plaintiff was qualified to perform those
essential functions before her medications ved@nged in July, and that she was qualified
to perform those functions again after the medications were changed again in mid-August.
To the extent that allowing platiff to return to work while using narcotic medications is

viewed as an accommodation,justiciable question exisés to whether such would be a

*There is no evidence that defendant had an explicit “no narcotic” policy at the workplace
apart from plaintiff’'s particular situation. See Lively v. PSI Energy, i©6-CV-1377-SEB/JMS,
2007 WL 4438872, at *8-9 (S.D. Inde@ 17, 2007) (holding that there was a justiciable question
as to whether modifying the employeriso*narcotic” policy was a reasonable accommodation
where the plaintiff presented a medical evaluattmat his use of the prescribed narcotics did not
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reasonable accommodation.

Insofar as the third element is concerned, there is evidence from which a fact-finder
might conceivably find discrimination based on plaintiff's disability, including that defendant
explicitly refused to allow her to return work until she was narcotic-free, despite her
doctors’ indication that she could function appropriately on the medications.

Though not altogether clear from defendant’s brief, it apparently suggests the
termination to have been based on eithainpiff's inability to perform the essential
functions of her job or her refusal to submit to a fitness for duty examination. Either
explanation qualifies as a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason.

In the context of defendant’s motion, neither party makes an effort to discuss evidence
of “pretext” in any explicit sense. In the abse of any meaningful showing in that regard,
the court regards the evidence establishing tinegfiacie case as also sufficient to constitute
the necessary evidence of pretext.

Defendant has not shown a basis for summary judgment in its favor as to the ADA
discrimination claim. As to plaintiff’s motiomany of the same factual disputes as prevent
summary judgment for the defendant also preclude entry of partial summary judgment for
the plaintiff. Both motions will be denied as to the ADA discrimination claim. Further, as
the parties have offered no meaningful disaussis to why the result would be different as

to the state law claim, summary judgment as to that claim, if séigjkimilarly denied.

impair his cognitive abilities).
®It is not clear that defendant’s motion was intended to challenge the state claim.
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B. Title Il - failure to accommodate handicap

Defendar alsc movec for summar judgmen on plaintiff's Title Il claim, which
“forbids discriminatior agains the disablecin public services programs anc activities’ and
specifie:that“no qualifiec individual with a disability shall by reasol of suct disability, be
exclude« from participatior in or be deniec the benefitc of the services, programs, or
activities of a public entity, or be subjecte to discriminatior by any suct entity.” Guttman
v.Khals¢, 66€F.3¢1101 1112 (10t Cir. 2012 (quotinc42 U.S.C. § 12132). Inthis regard,
plaintiff appears to argue that defendant failed to provide appropriate handicapped parking
to allow her to access the building. Howevieis undisputed that numerous handicap-
designated spaces were provided at the courthouse. Moreover, plaintiff acknowledges as
a matter of fact that the courthouse was “fully handicapped accessible.” She provides no
authority to support her apparent contention that a handicapped space must be marked for
employees only, as opposed to one for handicapped persons generally, nor does she offer any
evidence that the county ever sought to chihggdor using the available spaces. Similarly,
she does not identify any authority suggesting that a building otherwise fully accessible
should be viewed as lacking if some of the doors do not automatically open.

As no basis for violation of the Title Il standards has been shown, summary judgment

will enter for defendant as to that claim.

"Plaintiff argues the door into the clerk’s office did not open automatically, but did not
dispute it was readily seen by others in themiediate area, who could assist in opening it if
necessary.



C. EMLA Interference and Retaliation

Plaintiff also asserts FMLA interference and retaliation claims. The FMLA “makes
it unlawful for an employer to interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise or attempt to

exercise any right provided under the FMLA.” Brown v. ScriptPro, | 7@ F.3d 1222,

1226 (10th Cir. 2012) (citing 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(1)). To establish an interference claim,
an employee must show: “(1) [s]he was entite FMLA leave, (2) an adverse action by
[her] employer interfered with [her] right to take FMLA leave, and (3) this adverse action
was related to the exercise or attemptedrcise of the employee's FMLA rightsid.

(quoting Metzler v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of Topek64 F.3d 1164, 1180 (10th Cir.

2006)); Campbell v. Gambro Healthcare, Jrt/8 F.3d 1282, 1287 (10th Cir. 2007) (“In

order to satisfy the second element of arrfatence claim, the employee must show that she
was prevented from taking the full 12 weeks' of leave guaranteed by the FMLA, denied
reinstatement following leave, or denied initial permission to take leave.”). A plaintiff must

show some prejudice resulting from the alleged violation. Ragsdale v. Wolverine World

Wide, Inc, 535 U.S. 81, 89 (2002) (“To prevail under the cause of action set out in § 2617,

an employee must prove, as a threshold matter, that the employer violated 8§ 2615 by
interfering with, restraining, or denying his or her exercise of FMLA rights. Even then, §
2617 provides no relief unless the employee has been prejudiced by the violation . . . .”).
Here, plaintiff has effectively confessed the FMLA claim, arguing only that defendant
didn't appropriately advise her of her rights. She ignores the requirement for a showing of
prejudice and does not dispute that she veckihe full 12 weeks leave she was guaranteed
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by the FMLA and that her health insuramowerage under the employer’s group plan was
maintained at the county’s expense during hee tift. No basis for a FMLA claim has been
shown.

Defendantis also entitled to summary judgnton plaintiff’'s FMLA retaliation claim.

FMLA retaliation claims are subject to the McDonnell Doudlasden-shifting analysis.

Brown, 700 F.3d at 1229. To establish a primadaese of FMLA retaliation, the plaintiff

must show “(1) the employee engaged in a protected activity, (2) the employer took an action
that a reasonable employee would have found materially adverse, and (3) there is a causal
connection between the protected activity and the adverse actan(€itation omitted).

The burden then shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for
the action.ld. Finally, the burden shifts back to the employee to show that the employer's
reasons for its action are pretextukl.

Here, plaintiff has not pointed to any action on her part which would clearly qualify
as protected activity. It is undisputed that she did not request FMLA leave in any explicit
sense. However, even if the existence of protected activity (as well as the other prima facie
elements) be assumed (and defendant having articulated a non-retaliatory reason for
plaintiff's termination), she has presented no evidence (or argument, for that matter) which
would support a conclusion of pretext. Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on this
claim.

Conclusion
Plaintiff’'s motion for partial summary judgment [Doc. #8APENI ED. Defendant’s
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motion for summary judgment [Doc. #783RANTED as to plaintiff's FMLA interference

and retaliation claims and her Title 1l claims, but otheniB&NIED. Plaintiff's motion to

strike or disregar: contradictry affidavit affirmations [Doc. #81] iIPENIED. The case

remains for trial as to the ADA discriminaii claim and the parallel claim under state law.
IT1SSO ORDERED.

Dated this 28th day of May, 2013.

JOE HEATON
UNITE® STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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